Oakland Community College and International Union of Operating Engineers Local No. 324, AFL-CIO

Operating Engineers Master Agreement

July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2025

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# Contents

OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE LABOR CONTRACT	1
ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 2 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	1
ARTICLE 3 DUES CHECK-OFF	1
ARTICLE 4 STEWARDS	
ARTICLE 5 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	2
A. DEFINITION	2
B. TIME LIMITS	2
C. GRIEVANCE STEPS	2
D. FAILURE TO RENDER A DECISION	4
E. FAILURE TO APPEAL	4
F. WAIVER OF STEPS	4
G. GROUP GRIEVANCE	4
ARTICLE 6 LAYOFF AND RECALL	4
ARTICLE 7 SENIORITY	5
ARTICLE 8 TRANSFERS, VACANCIES, INTERIM APPOINTMENTS, AUXILIARY	
ASSIGNMENTS, AND PROMOTIONS	6
A. Transfers	
B. Vacancies	6
C. Interim Appointments	
D. Auxiliary Assignments	
E. Promotions	
ARTICLE 9 DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES/DISCHARGE	
ARTICLE 10 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)	7
ARTICLE 11 LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY	
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
HOLIDAYS	
JURY DUTY	
PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS	
SICK DAYS	
VACATION SCHEDULES	
ARTICLE 12 SPECIAL CONFERENCES	8
ARTICLE 13 MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS	9
ARTICLE 14 ANNUAL EVALUATION	9
ARTICLE 15 SAVINGS CLAUSE	
ARTICLE 16 TERM OF AGREEMENT	
SIGNATURE PAGE	
APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023	11
APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024	
APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE July 1,2024 – June 30, 2025	
APPENDIX B BENEFITS	
HEALTH/HOSPITALIZATION INSURANCE	
SHORT-TERM DISABILITY	
LONG-TERM DISABILITY	
DENTAL	
VISION INSURANCE	
LIFE INSURANCE	

EMPLOYEE FLEXIBLE SPENDING/REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT	16
TAX DEFERRED ANNUITIES - SALARY REDUCTION PLAN	16
WORKERS' COMPENSATION	16
SOCIAL SECURITY	17
MICHIGAN PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM	17
EMPLOYEE LIABILITY COVERAGE	17
TUITION WAIVER	17
TUITION REIMBURSEMENT	17
LIBRARY PRIVILEGES	18
CLOTHING ALLOWANCE	18
STAFF DEVELOPMENT	18
SECURITY IDENTIFICATION CARDS	19
VOLUNTARY BENEFITS	19
APPENDIX C-1 2022 WINTER CLOSEDOWN	20
APPENDIX C-2 2023 Winter Closedown	21
APPENDIX C-3 2024 Winter Closedown	22
FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)	23
COVERED EMPLOYERS	23
ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES	23
LEAVE ENTITLEMENT	23
NOTICE	24
CERTIFICATION	25
JOB RESTORATION AND HEALTH BENEFITS	25
OTHER PROVISIONS	25
ENFORCEMENT	26
INDEX	27

### OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE LABOR CONTRACT

Oakland Community College, hereinafter referred to as the "College" and the International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 324, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union" on July 1, 2022, enter into the following Agreement:

## ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

The College recognizes the Union as the exclusive representative to the extent required by Act 379 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1965, as amended, for the purpose of collective bargaining for all Operating Engineer personnel with respect to hours, wages, terms, and conditions of employment, for the term of this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 2 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The employer, on its own behalf and on behalf of the electors of the Community College District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws and the Constitution of the State of Michigan, and the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right:

- A. To the executive management and administrative control of the College, its properties, its facilities and the activities of its employees in conformance with their constitutional rights;
- B. To hire all employees and subject to the provision of law, to determine their qualifications and the conditions for their continued employment and to promote all such employees. Just cause shall be required for discipline, dismissals or demotions;
- C. To relieve employees from duties because of lack of work or other legitimate reasons;
- D. To determine the methods, means and personnel by which the operations of the College are to be conducted.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the Employer, the adoption of reasonable policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith shall be limited only by the specific and expressed terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent such specific and expressed terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Michigan and the Constitution and laws of the United States.

### ARTICLE 3 DUES CHECK-OFF

A. The College agrees to deduct from the pay of each employee all dues of IUOE, Local Union No. 324, AFL-CIO, and pay such amount deducted to said Local for each and every employee covered by this Agreement to the extent permitted by law, provided, however, that the Union presents to the College

authorization signed by such employee allowing such deductions and payment to the Local Union. The deduction shall be made from the pay of the employees for the first pay period of the calendar month.

- B. The College shall deduct current membership dues from the wages of said employee upon completion of his probationary period. Current membership dues shall not include initiation fees or special assessments. The Union shall indemnify and save harmless the College from any and all claims, demands, suits or any other actions arising from this article.
- C. All sums deducted shall be remitted to the financial secretary for the Local Union not later than the last day of the calendar month in which such deductions are made, the same to be allocated and distributed by them in accordance with the constitution, laws and regulations of the Union.

## ARTICLE 4 STEWARDS

There shall be one steward and one alternate steward to represent the employees covered under this Agreement. The names of the steward and alternate steward shall be certified in writing to the College by the Local Union.

- 1. The authority of steward and alternate, so designated by the Local Union, shall be limited to and shall not exceed the following duties and activities: The investigation and presentation of employees' grievances in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
- 2. The steward or alternate may investigate and present grievances to the College during his regular working hours providing that the time used for this purpose will not be abused.

## ARTICLE 5 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

## A. DEFINITION

The term "grievance" as used herein, shall be interpreted as a claim based upon an event or condition which affects the condition of work or employment of an operating engineer or group of operating engineers and/or interpretation, meaning or application of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Grievances may be instituted by any operating engineer, group of operating engineers, or IUOE, Local 324, AFL-CIO. The grieving party shall have Union representative with them at all stages of the grievance procedure.

## **B. TIME LIMITS**

All time limits herein shall consist of normal working days. Time limits may be extended only with the written consent of the College and the Union. Any grievance not presented for disposition through the grievance procedure within twenty (20) working days of the event or occurrence of the condition giving rise to the grievance, shall not thereafter be considered a grievance under this Agreement.

#### C. GRIEVANCE STEPS

Any grievance shall be presented through the following procedure, although the aggrieved parties are urged to discuss matters informally with their immediate supervisor before filing a formal written grievance.

- Step 1. Within twenty (20) working days after the event or occurrence the Union Steward shall present the grievance in writing to the appropriate immediate supervisor. The statement of grievance shall include:
  - a. The name of the aggrieved party or parties.
  - b. A statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance.
  - c. Identification of all provisions of this Agreement alleged to be violated.
  - d. The date on which the event or occurrence first occurred or the date on which the aggrieved party first gained knowledge of the alleged event or occurrence.
  - e. The date of the initial submission of the grievance in writing.
  - f. Remedy or correction requested.

The supervisor shall render his decision to the aggrieved party and the Union steward, in writing within ten (10) working days after receipt of the grievance. A copy shall be supplied to the Union Business Agent.

Step 2. In the event the aggrieved party is not satisfied with the decision at Step 1, the Union Steward within twenty (20) working days of receiving the decision, present an appeal in writing to the Vice Chancellor of Administrative Services. With this appeal, he shall present a copy of his original grievance and the reply of the supervisor at Step 1.

The Vice Chancellor shall render the decision to the aggrieved party and the Union, in writing, within ten (10) working days after receipt of the appeal. A copy shall be forwarded to the Union Business Agent.

Step 3. In the event the aggrieved party is not satisfied with the decision at Step 2, the union may, within ten (10) working days of receiving the decision, present an appeal in writing to the College's Vice Chancellor for Human Resources or designee.

With this appeal, he shall present a copy of his original grievance and the replies received at Step 1 and 2. The College's Vice Chancellor for Human Resources or designee shall render his decision, in writing, to the aggrieved party and the Union Steward within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the appeal. A copy shall be forwarded to the Union Business Agent.

- Step 4. In the event there is no resolution at the College's Vice Chancellor for Human Resources or designee level, the Union, within ten (10) working days, may request the service of an impartial mediator appointed by MERC in order to facilitate the resolution of the grievance. Neither party may be represented by legal counsel at this step of the grievance procedure.
- Step 5. In the event the Union is not satisfied with the decision at Step 4, the Union may present an appeal in writing to the College's Vice Chancellor for Human Resources or designee requesting grievance arbitration in accordance with the following procedure:
  - a. Arbitration shall be initiated by written notice to the other party, within ten (10) working days from receipt of the answer in Step 4, of intent to arbitrate.
  - b. Arbitrators shall be selected from a panel of seven (7) provided by FCMS. The employer shall strike the first name, the parties shall then alternate striking

names. The last name remaining shall ne the arbitrator.

Each of these arbitrators shall agree to all of the Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

- c. The arbitrators shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, change or modify any provisions of this Agreement. However, nothing contained herein shall be construed to limit the authority of the arbitrator or the judgment of the arbitrator to sustain, or reverse, or modify any alleged dispute put before the arbitrator.
- d. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on both the Union, the employee and the Employer and not subject to further appeal.
- e. Expenses and fees of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Union and the College.

### D. FAILURE TO RENDER A DECISION

Failure to render a decision at any step of this procedure within the specified time limits shall permit the grievance to proceed to the next step.

#### E. FAILURE TO APPEAL

Failure of the aggrieved party or parties to appeal a decision at any step within the specified time limits shall constitute a withdrawal of the grievance.

#### F. WAIVER OF STEPS

Any step of the Grievance Procedure may be waived with the written consent of the College and the aggrieved party.

#### G. GROUP GRIEVANCE

In the event that the Union members have a group grievance, it shall be sufficient if the Union presents the grievance on behalf of all similarly affected Union members provided, however, that the initial statement of grievance will include, in Step 1, the names of all involved Union members indicating that the grievance is a group grievance. A group grievance shall be one in which the facts questioned, and expressed provisions of this Agreement alleged to be violated, relate to every member of the group.

## ARTICLE 6 LAYOFF AND RECALL

Layoff and recall shall be based solely on bargaining unit seniority within classification. There shall be no seniority for probationary employees. In the event a reduction in force is necessary, layoff shall occur based on seniority within each classification. Recall shall occur in the reverse order of layoff.

No bumping or transfer will be permitted within the bargaining unit except when a vacancy occurs. Vacancies shall be filled based on qualification and seniority within classification. Exceptions to the above are subject to mutual agreement of the parties.

## ARTICLE 7 SENIORITY

Section 1. Definitions

- A. College-wide seniority shall be defined as an employee's length of service with the Employer commencing with the Employee's most recent date of hire.
- B. Bargaining unit seniority shall be defined as the period of employment commencing with the Employee's most recent date of hire in the bargaining unit, including any previously frozen seniority in the bargaining unit.
- C. Classification seniority shall be defined as the period of employment commencing with the bargaining unit member's most recent date assigned to the classification, including any previously frozen seniority in that classification.

No time shall be deducted from an employee's seniority due to absences occasioned by authorized paid leaves of absence, or unpaid leaves of absence of less than thirty (30) days. Seniority shall continue to accrue during absences from the College due to Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) leave or involuntary military service.

- Section 2. Seniority List After successfully completing their probationary period an employee shall be placed on the seniority list as of their date of hire.
- Section 3. Loss of Seniority An employee shall be terminated and lose their seniority for the following reasons:
  - a. The employee quits or retires.
  - b. The employee is discharged for just cause and not reinstated through the grievance procedure.
  - c. The employee does not report for work upon notice of recall by registered mail to their last known address within ten (10) working days.
  - d. The employee does not show up for work without notice for three (3) consecutive days, except in the case of an emergency.
  - e. The employee has been on a long-term disability (LTD) or workers' compensation leave for two (2) consecutive years.
  - f. The employee has been on layoff status for three (3) consecutive years.
- Section 4. Probationary Period For New Hires All newly hired employees shall be required to serve a probationary period of ninety (90) days. All absences (paid and unpaid) shall extend the probationary period accordingly.

During the probationary period, the employee shall have no seniority status and may be laid off or terminated at the sole discretion of the Employer. Such layoff or termination shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure.

## ARTICLE 8 TRANSFERS, VACANCIES, INTERIM APPOINTMENTS, AUXILIARY ASSIGNMENTS, AND PROMOTIONS

### A. Transfers

When a vacancy occurs at another site, a senior bargaining unit employee currently holding the same classification, upon application, shall be granted the transfer.

#### **B.** Vacancies

When a bargaining unit vacancy occurs that the College determines to fill, the position will be posted for fourteen (14) working days on the College's Applicant Tracking System. All qualified applicants will be considered.

#### **C. Interim Appointments**

When a bargaining unit member is assigned the duties of a position at a higher pay grade, it shall be considered an Interim Assignment. Such an assignment for 30 calendar days or less will not have a salary adjustment. When an interim assignment exceeds 30 days, the member shall be paid the corresponding pay rate associated with the position assigned. The bi-weekly pay rate of the interim assignment will be determined by the member's years of service. Such adjustment in pay shall be retroactive to the first day of the interim assignment.

### **D.** Auxiliary Assignments

Whenever a Superintendent or Chief Engineer is required to:

- 1. Perform the administrative duties of another Superintendent or Chief Engineer on any campus due to a vacancy that exceeds twenty (20) working days , and
- 2. There is only one Superintendent or Chief Engineer on that campus,

Then the College will compensate the affected Operating Engineer an additional \$700.00 per pay until the vacancy is filled, retroactive to the first day of the auxiliary assignment.

#### **E.** Promotions

When a bargaining unit member is awarded a position at a higher pay grade, it shall be considered a promotion. The member shall be placed in the Salary Schedule of the new classification, which is at least 7.5% higher than the member's former base rate. Additionally, the member shall be advanced to the next higher schedule for each 12-month period thereafter.\*

\*with the understanding that any bargaining unit employees that have been promoted on or after April 1, 2022 will be included.

## ARTICLE 9 DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES/DISCHARGE

Bargaining Unit members will not be disciplined or discharged without just cause. The College will adhere to the principles of progressive discipline when appropriate.

Breaches of performance and conduct are subject to disciplinary procedures. Such breaches include but are not limited to abuses of sick leave and other leaves, deficiencies in performance, violation of Board policies, regulations and administrative directions not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement. Disciplinary action less than discharge may consist of actions such as written reprimand, suspension from a portion of, or all duties, with or without pay, and demotion. This listing is not meant to exclude other

forms of discipline less than discharge.

In imposing any sanction on a current charge, the Employer will not take into account any prior infractions that occurred more than two (2) years previous to the date of the occurrence of the event on which the current charge is based.

## ARTICLE 10 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)

The Employer will comply with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA).

## ARTICLE 11 LEAVES OF ABSENCE WITH PAY

#### **BEREAVEMENT LEAVE**

A full-time employee shall receive a three (3) day leave of absence without loss of pay in the event of the death of any member of their immediate family. Immediate family shall be limited to the employee's spouse, mother, father, son, daughter, stepchildren, brother, sister, aunt, uncle, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, mother-in- law, father-in-law, stepparents, grandchildren, grandparents, spouse's grandparents, domestic partner or any loco parentis relationship in the employee's immediate household.

Under certain conditions, such as when long distances must be traveled, a reasonable length of time beyond the three (3) days may be approved by the employee's immediate supervisor.

#### HOLIDAYS

The following shall be recognized as paid holidays for full-time employees:

- New Year's Eve Day
- New Year's Day
- Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
- Memorial Day
- Independence Day
- Labor Day
- Thanksgiving Day
- Day after Thanksgiving Day
- Christmas Eve Day
- Christmas Day
- And any other holidays that the Chancellor or Board of Trustees of Oakland Community College declares or designates as legal holidays.

All holidays are full day holidays.

Whenever any of these holidays fall on the sixth (6th) and/or seventh (7th) day of the employee's regular work week and State authorities or the College transfer its observance to another day, that day shall then be considered the holiday.

#### JURY DUTY

In the event that an employee is summoned as a juror or subpoenaed as a witness in any judicial proceeding, the employee shall suffer no loss of pay from the College for their necessary absence from employment, but shall endorse to the College any warrant or voucher issued for services as such juror or witness.

## PERSONAL LEAVE DAYS

Eligible upon employment for three (3) days of personal leave per fiscal year without loss of pay.

#### SICK DAYS

Employees shall accumulate sick leave at the rate of one (1) day per month. An employee absent for more than three (3) consecutive working days, because of personal illness or injury, may be required to provide a certificate from their physician authorizing their return to work prior to such return. The College will payout 50% of any earned, but unused sick time, up to a maximum of 12 days/96 hours to any employee who terminates from the college. Payout will be calculated at the employee's regular rate of pay at the time of termination.

### VACATION SCHEDULES

•	0 through 12 months	One (1) day per month, not to exceed ten (10) days
•	13 months through 60 months	1-1/4 days per month to a maximum of fifteen (15) days
•	61st month	Two (2) days per month to a maximum of twenty-four (24) days vacation accrued but not taken may be carried forward to the next contractual period to a maximum of forty-eight (48) days.

Vacation time based on the above schedule will be awarded in full each year on July 1st. However, employees will be obligated to reimburse the College for vacation days used but not earned prior to any leave of absence.

Employees on long-term disability or workers' compensation leaves shall have vacation days deducted from their next July 1st allotment for vacation time used but not yet earned prior to the commencement of their leave. If an employee does not return to work from a leave, terminates or is terminated, the Employee shall be billed for vacation days used but not earned prior to the commencement of the leave or termination.

## ARTICLE 12 SPECIAL CONFERENCES

Upon request a special conference will be held between two (2) representatives of the Operating Engineers, the Vice Chancellor for Administrative Services, a management representative, and two (2) members of the Human Resources Department to discuss issues identified by the Chief Steward of the

Operating Engineers Union.

## ARTICLE 13 MAINTENANCE OF STANDARDS

The College agrees that all conditions of employment relating to salary, hours of work, and general working conditions are to be maintained at not less than the highest minimum standards in effect at the time of signing of this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 14 ANNUAL EVALUATION

The College may evaluate each employee on an annual basis. The evaluation shall be intended to support the growth and improve the performance of employees, and shall not be used for disciplinary purposes. The appraisal form shall be subject to the approval of both the Union and the College. The employee's supervisor shall complete the annual evaluation, and the employee shall be given a copy. Further, the annual evaluation will be maintained in the employee's personnel file and may be utilized, if needed, as evidence of notice to the employee of the contents therein.

## ARTICLE 15 SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any provision of this Agreement shall be found to be contrary to Federal or State law, that provision only shall be deemed null and void and such a determination shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 16 TERM OF AGREEMENT

- A. This AGREEMENT shall become of full force and effect on July 1, 2022, and shall continue without amendment or modification of any kind until June 30, 2025.
- B. One Hundred Twenty (120) days prior to July 1, 2025, the Union and/or the Employer will, upon written notice to the appropriate party, meet to renegotiate the Contract.
- C. Appendices A, B, C & D are part of this Agreement.

#### **ON BEHALF OF:**

#### OAKLAND COMMUNITY COLLEGE

#### INTERNATIONAL UNION OF OPERATING ENGINEERS, LOCAL No. 324, AFL-CIO

Andre' L. Poplar Vice Chancellor for Human Resources & DEIJ Douglas W. Stockwell Business Manager

Donna J. Tuchowski Director of Human Resources Ken Dombrow President

Robert M. Kelly Executive Director of Facilities Operations Chad Lynch Recording-Corresponding Secretary

Dan Cherewick Director of Physical Facilities

Dana Holt Human Resources Coordinator

Julie Hoyt Benefits & Compensation Manager

Laura Rutkoski Benefits Specialist

Angela Smith Human Resources Associate

## APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE

## July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023

		Biweekly Starting Salary	Biweekly After One (1) Year*	Bi-Weekly After Two (2) Years
A.	Chief Engineer- Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,589.68	\$4,012.06	\$4,223.22
B.	Supervisor - Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,121.05	\$3,488.28	\$3,671.86
C.	Superintendent - Buildings and Grounds	\$2,869.40	\$3,227.45	\$3,397.35
D.	Supervisor - Buildings and Grounds	\$2,432.42	\$2,751.00	\$3,058.63

\*Employees hired on or promoted on or after January 1 and before June 30 are not eligible for the one (1) year increase until the following year

## APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE

## July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024

		Biweekly Starting Salary	Biweekly After One (1) Year*	Bi-Weekly After Two (2) Years
A.	Chief Engineer- Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,697.37	\$4,132.42	\$4,349.92
B.	Supervisor - Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,214.68	\$3,592.93	\$3,782.02
C.	Superintendent - Buildings and Grounds	\$2,955.48	\$3,324.27	\$3,499.27
D.	Supervisor - Buildings and Grounds	\$2,505.39	\$2,833.53	\$3,150.39

\*Employees hired on or promoted on or after January 1 and before June 30 are not eligible for the one (1) year increase until the following year

## APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE

## July 1,2024 – June 30, 2025

		Biweekly Starting Salary	Biweekly After One (1) Year*	Bi-Weekly After Two (2) Years
A.	Chief Engineer- Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,808.29	\$4,256.39	\$4,480.42
B.	Supervisor - Mechanical Systems and Plant Operations	\$3,311.12	\$3,700.72	\$3,895.48
C.	Superintendent - Buildings and Grounds	\$3,044.14	\$3,424.00	\$3,604.25
D.	Supervisor - Buildings and Grounds	\$2,580.55	\$2,918.54	\$3,244.90

\*Employees hired on or promoted on or after January 1 and before June 30 are not eligible for the one (1) year increase until the following year

## APPENDIX B BENEFITS

All coverage shall be subject to the provisions and requirements of the group insurance policies and shall not be subject to Article 5 (Grievance Procedure) of this Agreement.

The College shall contribute the same amount of dollars for benefits for employees beyond age 70 as for those employees age 70 or less. Such dollar amount shall be used to purchase as much coverage as possible, but may not equal the coverage provided for employees less than 65 years of age. If coverage is not available, or cost prohibitive, the employees shall receive the benefit cost as a supplement to salary.

The College will provide benefits in compliance with all state and federal regulations.

### HEALTH/HOSPITALIZATION INSURANCE

Medical coverage is effective the first day of the month following date of hire for the union member and eligible dependents. The College will provide cost-sharing information for a new fiscal year as soon as new premium rates become available.

Full-time employees who elect not to participate in Oakland Community College's medical and prescription plans and who have coverage elsewhere shall receive an insurance waiver of \$2,000, distributed equally, in the employee's regular paycheck Written proof of insurance coverage elsewhere is required for Opt Out. A bargaining unit member or spouse cannot be enrolled in any OCC benefit, as both the subscriber and as a spouse. In the case of both parents being eligible for OCC benefits, dependents are eligible for coverage under only one parent.

Failure to maintain current cost sharing payments while on a leave of absence, may result in termination of health insurance. Cost sharing payments must be mailed or delivered to the Human Resources Department, 2480 Opdyke Road, Bloomfield Hills, 48304.

For each eligible employee who elects to receive medical coverage from the College, the College will pay for the actual premium cost and/or illustrated rate cost for such medical coverage up to the hard cap threshold as determined by the State of Michigan on an annual basis.

The medical coverage plan options provided for the College's exempt management employees will be provided to employees as plan options for elected coverage. These medical coverage plan options will include at least one PPO plan option and at least one High-Deductible (HSA accompanied) plan option. Summary Plan Descriptions for each medical coverage plan offered by the College will be provided to existing employees during the annual health insurance open enrollment period and to new employees upon hire.

At any point during the term of this Agreement, the College may seek quotes from reliable medical carriers/providers for either the existing deductible, co-pay, co-insurance and/or prescription drug card levels or alternative medical coverage plan designs. Upon request, representatives for the Union agree to meet with the College to review and discuss these quotes with the understanding that any change(s) in benefit level(s) is/are subject to negotiation by the parties.

Coverage will be provided for dependents (per IRS definition) up to age 26.

#### SHORT-TERM DISABILITY

- Eligible after the ten (10) working days of disability.
- Subject to the provisions and requirements of the policy.
- Weekly benefits after ten (10) working days from the start of the disability, full-time employees will be eligible for 70% of their monthly salary, at the time of disability, subject to the terms and conditions of the employer's existing group policy. Maximum benefit period is 90 days.

### LONG-TERM DISABILITY

Long-term disability benefits are effective the first day of the month following date of hire. The union member shall receive a weekly benefit payment beginning with the 91st day of disability. Maximum monthly benefit is \$10,000.

In accordance with the 1978 Age Discrimination in Employment Act Amendments and Final Interpretive Bulletin by the Department of Labor, the following shall apply: If disability occurs at age 60 or before, benefits will cease at age 65. If disability occurs after age 60, benefits will cease five (5) years after disablement or at age 70, whichever occurs first. If long-term disability benefits commence at age 69 or older, benefits will be paid for twelve (12) months.

If a bargaining unit member becomes disabled and is eligible for benefits, they will continue to receive medical, dental, vision and life insurance coverage not to exceed two (2) years from the date of eligibility.

#### DENTAL

Dental care insurance is effective the first day of the month following date of hire for union members and their eligible dependents.

	Annual			Annual	Annual Cash
Options	Benefit	Co-Pay Ortho	Life benefit	Employee Cost	Refund
Core	\$1,100	90/100	\$3,000	0	0

Note: Routine oral exams are currently covered at 100% twice a year. These exams are considered Class I services and do not apply to the annual maximum.

The annual maximum for Class I, II, and III services shall be no less than: \$1,100

The lifetime maximum for Class IV services shall be no less than \$3,000

#### VISION INSURANCE

Vision care insurance is effective the first day of the month following date of hire for union members and their eligible dependents.

-	Core	<u>Opt Out</u>
Exams	\$45MD	
	\$35 OD	
Lenses:		
Single	\$52	
Bifocal	\$80	
Trifocal	\$94	
Frames	\$65	
Contacts	\$125	
		\$24 refund

## LIFE INSURANCE

#### A. Term Life

Term life insurance is effective the first day of the month following date of hire. The benefit will be paid to the union member's designated beneficiary. In the event of accidental death, the insurance will pay double the specified amount. The amount of life insurance coverage is \$120,000

Coverage shall be reduced, beginning at age 65, according to the following table:

Age	Percent of Age 65 Benefit
65 - 69	65%
70 - 74	45%
75 - 79	30%
80 and older	20%

### B. Additional Optional Life Insurance

Optional term life insurance is available in an amount up to \$500,000 at the union member's expense through payroll deduction at rates established for the union member's specific age group. Optional term life insurance will require evidence of insurability and may be obtained only during regularly established enrollment periods.

Coverage shall be reduced, beginning at age 70, according to the following table:

Age	Percent of Age 70 Benefit
70 - 74	65%
75 - 79	45%
80 - 84	30%
85 - 89	20%
90 and older	15%

## EMPLOYEE FLEXIBLE SPENDING/REIMBURSEMENT ACCOUNT

Employee Flexible Spending/Reimbursement Accounts may be established effective the first day of the month following the date of hire, subject to open enrollment periods. A Union member may utilize the Employee Flexible Spending/Reimbursement Account to pay a portion of his/her out-of-pocket uninsured Health Care, Dependent Care, and Adoption expenses with employee pre-tax dollars:

The Flexible Spending Accounts are administered in accordance with applicable IRS regulations and restrictions and minimum and/or maximum dollar limits on employee contributions shall be consistent with the limits determined by the IRS.

**NOTE:** Union members shall have the opportunity to select different benefit options on an annual basis during open enrollment.

## **TAX DEFERRED ANNUITIES - SALARY REDUCTION PLAN**

- Eligible upon enrollment and application if not previously a member.
- Employees may reduce their salary for contribution in accordance with Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and the regulations thereunder.

## WORKERS' COMPENSATION

• Eligible upon employment.

- Benefits per schedule established by law for accidents or illness directly attributable to employment.
- Health insurance program (medical, dental, optical) shall be paid for each employee who is receiving workers' compensation, and his/her family, up to a maximum of two (2) years from the date the employee began receiving workers' compensation payments.

### SOCIAL SECURITY

- Paid by the College and employee.
- Eligible upon employment; participation required.
- Retirement benefits available pursuant to enabling legislation.

## MICHIGAN PUBLIC SCHOOL EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM

- Paid by the College with the MIPS portion paid by the employee.
- Eligibility as determined by enabling Legislation.
- Benefits based on years of service and average earnings.

## EMPLOYEE LIABILITY COVERAGE

Coverage for job-connected liability situations.

#### **TUITION WAIVER**

Employees are eligible for tuition waiver upon employment. In addition, the spouse and dependent children residing with the full-time employee shall be eligible for a similar tuition grant.

Tuition grants for employees are limited to eight (8) credit hours in the Fall and Winter sessions and four (4) credit hours in the Summer I and four (4) credit hours in the Summer II session. Full-time tuition grants for spouses and dependent children are allowed. Dependent children are covered through the end of the calendar year in which they turn 26.

Children of a deceased bargaining unit member shall be extended the above benefits until such child reaches the age of 26. The spouse, if any (as of the date of death), of a deceased bargaining unit member shall remain eligible for the tuition grant provided above for a period of six (6) years following the date of death. When the time periods specified above have been reached, the child and/or spouse shall receive tuition grant for those courses which have actually met, but shall not receive tuition grant for any course sections for which the spouse/child has merely registered.

Retired OCC Operating Engineers are eligible for a tuition waiver for one class (up to four (4) credits) each semester for six (6) years following the effective date of retirement. The spouse and dependent children of retired employees are not eligible for this benefit.

#### **TUITION REIMBURSEMENT**

The Board shall appropriate \$8,000 each year in its operating budget to be used to pay a bargaining unit member's tuition for coursework which satisfies all of the following conditions:

• Coursework or a program of study must be pertinent to the needs of the College and/or duties of the employee. The coursework or program of study must be taken at an accredited institution of higher education. The coursework must provide the employee with additional areas of competence. Employees have the option to receive prior approval of coursework by completing the Tuition Reimbursement Application and submitting it to the Supervisor for their signature before registering for courses that will be submitted for tuition reimbursement when they are completed.

- All coursework applied for under the Tuition Reimbursement Guidelines must normally be taken outside of regular work hours on the employee's own time. However, courses may be authorized during normal working hours if approved in writing by the immediate supervisor and the appropriate member of Executive Council.
- Reimbursement for certified classes offered by Local 324 Stationary Engineer Training Center would be the actual cost of the course/class up to \$400 per course/class up to a maximum reimbursement of \$3,000 per fiscal year.
- Reimbursement is for tuition and fees but does not include reimbursement for books or any other related expenses.
- Employees applying for tuition reimbursement must provide to the Benefits & Compensation Manager a completed tuition reimbursement application, a completed check request, an official grade report/or copy and receipt for tuition and fees paid in order to receive any reimbursement under their plan of work. Such courses must have grade(s) of a "B" or higher and the courses must be completed within the academic year.
- Incomplete ("I") grades must be made up within the same or following academic year in order to receive reimbursement. Incomplete grades not made up in the same or following academic year shall not be eligible for reimbursement in future years.
  - Continuing education courses will be reimbursed only if a grade is awarded. The tuition

reimbursement period will be for the fiscal year (July 1 to June 30).

The maximum total of tuition and fees paid to any individual will be \$500 per credit hour or up to a maximum of \$5,000 per fiscal year. If tuition and fees are less than \$500 per credit hour, reimbursement will be for the amount of the actual receipt.

Courses at other colleges and universities that are equivalent to Oakland Community College classes are not eligible for tuition reimbursement.

Receipts and official/or copy of grade report with check request must be submitted within thirty (30) days of course completion. Wherein possible, reimbursement will be made twenty (20) days following submission of official grade report/or copy and valid tuition receipt.

Each employee will receive, in full, their requested tuition and fee reimbursement amounts according to the guidelines listed above and subject to the maximum fees shown above.

#### LIBRARY PRIVILEGES

Eligible upon employment; amount of benefit is the use of any of the Oakland Community College library facilities.

## **CLOTHING ALLOWANCE**

At the beginning of each fiscal year, full-time bargaining unit employees shall receive \$1,500 to purchase appropriate clothing as determined by management.

#### **STAFF DEVELOPMENT**

Each bargaining unit member shall complete staff development activities as directed by his/her supervisor. Failure of any employee to complete staff development activities as directed by the supervisor shall constitute just cause for disciplinary action.

### SECURITY IDENTIFICATION CARDS

Each bargaining unit member will be required to wear a photo identification card issued by the College during working hours.

### **VOLUNTARY BENEFITS**

The college shall provide, at its sole discretion, a Voluntary Benefits program to include, but not limited to, supplemental life, pet insurance, and critical illness. Voluntary Benefit offers will be decided by the employer.

## **APPENDIX C-1**

## **2022 WINTER CLOSEDOWN**

The parties agree as follows:

- 1) There will be a winter closedown from Thursday, December 22, 2022 through Monday, January 2, 2023. The College will reopen on Tuesday, January 3, 2023.
- 2) The winter closedown shall consist of the following calendar dates:

<u>Day</u>	Date	<b>Designation</b>
Thursday	December 22	Work day
Friday	December 23	Holiday
Saturday	December 24	Saturday
Sunday	December 25	Sunday
Monday	December 26	Holiday
Tuesday	December 27	Work Day
Wednesday	December 28	Work Day
Thursday	December 29	Work day
Friday	December 30	Holiday
Saturday	December 31	Saturday
Sunday	January 1	Sunday
Monday	January 2	Holiday
Tuesday	January 3	Return to Work

- 3) For full-time employees, four (4) scheduled work days during the winter closedown shall be charged to any one of the options listed below:
  - A. Two (2) vacation days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - B. Two (2) personal business days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - C. Any combination of A and B.
  - D. All four (4) days taken without pay, with the understanding that the days would not be considered scheduled work days for the purpose of determining eligibility for holiday pay.

4) Employees scheduled to work during the winter closedown must receive written authorization from their immediate supervisor and the appropriate Vice Chancellor no later than December 1 of each year. An equal number of hours will be added to the employee's vacation bank for all hours worked during the winter closedown. These vacation hours will not affect the pay or the hours charged for the option selected by the employee as provided in #3 above.

## **APPENDIX C-2**

## 2023 Winter Closedown

The parties agree as follows:

- 1) There will be a winter closedown from Friday, December 22, 2023 through Tuesday, January 2, 2024. The College will reopen on Wednesday, January 3, 2024.
- 2) The winter closedown shall consist of the following calendar dates:

SundayDecember 31SundayMondayJanuary 1HolidayTuesdayJanuary 2HolidayWednesdayJanuary 3Return to Work	<u>Day</u>	Date	Designation
	Friday	December 22	Work Day
	Saturday	December 23	Saturday
	Sunday	December 24	Sunday
	Monday	December 25	Holiday
	Tuesday	December 26	Holiday
	Wednesday	December 27	Work Day
	Thursday	December 28	Work Day
	Friday	December 29	Work Day
	Saturday	December 30	Saturday
	Saturday	December 30	Saturday
	Sunday	December 31	Sunday
	Tuesday	January 2	Holiday

- 3) For full-time employees four (4) scheduled work days during the winter closedown shall be charged to any one of the options listed below:
  - a. Two (2) vacation days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - b. Two (2) personal business days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - c. Any combination of A and B.
  - d. All four (4) days taken without pay, with the understanding that the days would not be considered scheduled work days for the purpose of determining eligibility for holiday pay.
- 4) Employees scheduled to work during the winter closedown must receive written authorization from their immediate supervisor and the appropriate Vice Chancellor no later than December 1 of each year. An equal number of hours will be added to the employee's vacation bank for all hours worked during the winter closedown. These vacation hours will not affect the pay or the hours charged for the option selected by the employee as provided in #3 above.

## **APPENDIX C-3**

## 2024 Winter Closedown

The parties agree as follows:

- 1) There will be a winter closedown from Saturday, December 21, 2024 through Wednesday, January 1, 2025. The College will reopen on Thursday, January 2, 2025.
- 2) The winter closedown shall consist of the following calendar dates:

<u>Day</u> Saturday	Date December 21	<u>Designation</u> Saturday
Sunday	December 22	Sunday Wark Day
Monday Tuesday	December 23 December 24	Work Day Holiday
Wednesday	December 25	Holiday
Thursday	December 26	Work Day
Friday	December 27	Work Day
Saturday	December 28	Saturday
Sunday	December 29	Sunday
Monday	December 30	Work Day
Tuesday	December 31	Holiday
Wednesday	January 1	Holiday
Thursday	January 2	Return to Work

- 3) For full-time employees four (4) scheduled work days during the winter closedown shall be charged to any one of the options listed below:
  - a. Two (2) vacation days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - b. Two (2) personal business days, plus two (2) days of paid time from the College.
  - c. Any combination of A and B.
  - d. All four (4) days taken without pay, with the understanding that the days would not be considered scheduled work days for the purpose of determining eligibility for holiday pay.
- 4) Employees scheduled to work during the winter closedown must receive written authorization from their immediate supervisor and the appropriate Vice Chancellor no later than December 1 of each year. An equal number of hours will be added to the employee's vacation bank for all hours worked during the winter closedown. These vacation hours will not affect the pay or the hours charged for the option selected by the employee as provided in #3 above.



# Fact Sheet #28: The Family and Medical Leave Act

The Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) entitles eligible employees of covered employers to take unpaid, job-protected leave for specified family and medical reasons. This fact sheet provides general information about which employers are covered by the FMLA, when employees are eligible and entitled to take FMLA leave, and what rules apply when employees take FMLA leave.

## **COVERED EMPLOYERS**

The FMLA only applies to employers that meet certain criteria. A covered employer is a:

- Private-sector employer, with 50 or more employees in 20 or more workweeks in the current or preceding calendar year, including a joint employer or successor in interest to a covered employer;
- Public agency, including a local, state, or Federal government agency, regardless of the number of employees it employs; or
- Public or private elementary or secondary school, regardless of the number of employees it employs.

## **ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES**

Only eligible employees are entitled to take FMLA leave. An eligible employee is one who:

- Works for a *covered employer*;
- Has worked for the employer for at least 12 months;
- Has at least *1,250 hours* of service for the employer during the 12 month period immediately preceding the leave\*; and
- Works at a location where the employer has at least 50 employees within 75 miles.

\* Special hours of service eligibility requirements apply to airline flight crew employees. *See* <u>Fact Sheet</u> 28J: Special Rules for Airline Flight Crew Employees under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

The 12 months of employment do not have to be consecutive. That means any time previously worked for the same employer (including seasonal work) could, in most cases, be used to meet the 12-month requirement. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, the time worked prior to the break will not count *unless* the break is due to service covered by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a written agreement, including a collective bargaining agreement, outlining the employer's intention to rehire the employee after the break in service. *See* "FMLA Special Rules for Returning Reservists".

## LEAVE ENTITLEMENT

Eligible employees may take up to **12 workweeks** of leave in a 12-month period for one or more of the following reasons:

FS 28

- The birth of a son or daughter or placement of a son or daughter with the employee for adoption or foster care;
- To care for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent who has a serious health condition;
- For a serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the essential functions of his or her job; or
- For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a military member on covered active duty or call to covered active duty status.

An eligible employee may also take up to **26 work weeks** of leave during a "single 12-month period" to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness, when the employee is the spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of the service member. The "single 12-month period" for military caregiver leave is different from the 12-month period used for other FMLA leave reasons. *See* Fact Sheets 28F: Qualifying Reasons under the FMLA and 28M: The Military Family Leave Provisions under the FMLA.

Under some circumstances, employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced schedule basis. That means an employee may take leave in separate blocks of time or by reducing the time the Employee works each day or week for a single qualifying reason. When leave is needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. If FMLA leave is for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a child, use of intermittent or reduced schedule leave requires the employer's approval.

Under certain conditions, employees may choose, or employers may require employees, to "substitute" (run concurrently) accrued paid leave, such as sick or vacation leave, to cover some or all of the FMLA leave period. An employee's ability to substitute accrued paid leave is determined by the terms and conditions of the employer's normal leave policy.

## NOTICE

Employees must comply with their employer's usual and customary requirements for requesting leave and provide enough information for their employer to reasonably determine whether the FMLA may apply to the leave request. Employees generally must request leave 30 days in advance when the need for leave is foreseeable. When the need for leave is foreseeable less than 30 days in advance or is unforeseeable, employees must provide notice as soon as possible and practicable under the circumstances.

When an employee seeks leave for a FMLA-qualifying reason for the first time, the employee need not expressly assert FMLA rights or even mention the FMLA. If an employee later requests additional leave for the same qualifying condition, the employee must specifically reference either the qualifying reason for leave or the need for FMLA leave. *See* Fact Sheet 28E: Employee Notice Requirements under the FMLA.

Covered employers must:

- (1) Post a notice explaining rights and responsibilities under the FMLA (and may be subject to a civil money penalty of up to \$110 for willful failure to post);
- (2) Include information about the FMLA in their employee handbooks or provide information to new employees upon hire;

- (3) When an employee requests FMLA leave or the employer acquires knowledge that leave may be for a FMLA-qualifying reason, provide the employee with notice concerning his or her eligibility for FMLA leave and his or her rights and responsibilities under the FMLA; and
- (4) Notify employees whether leave is designated as FMLA leave and the amount of leave that will be deducted from the employee's FMLA entitlement.

See Fact Sheet 28D: Employer Notice Requirements under the FMLA.

## CERTIFICATION

When an employee requests FMLA leave due to his or her own serious health condition or a covered family member's serious health condition, the employer may require certification in support of the leave from a health care provider. An employer may also require second or third medical opinions (at the employer's expense) and periodic recertification of a serious health condition. *See* Fact Sheet 28G: Certification of a Serious Health Condition under the FMLA. For information on certification requirements for military family leave, *See* Fact Sheet 28M(c): Qualifying Exigency Leave under the FMLA; Fact Sheet 28M(a): Military Caregiver Leave for a Current Service member under the FMLA; and Fact Sheet 28M(b): Military Caregiver Leave for a Veteran under the FMLA.

## JOB RESTORATION AND HEALTH BENEFITS

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee must be restored to his or her original job or to an equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. An employee's use of FMLA leave cannot be counted against the employee under a "no-fault" attendance policy. Employers are also required to continue group health insurance coverage for an employee on FMLA leave under the same terms and conditions as if the employee had not taken leave. *See* Fact Sheet 28A: Employee Protections under the Family and Medical Leave Act.

## **OTHER PROVISIONS**

Special rules apply to employees of local education agencies. Generally, these rules apply to intermittent or reduced schedule FMLA leave or the taking of FMLA leave near the end of a school term.

Salaried executive, administrative, and professional employees of covered employers who meet the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) criteria for exemption from minimum wage and overtime under the FLSA regulations, 29 CFR Part 541, do not lose their FLSA-exempt status by using any unpaid FMLA leave. This special exception to the "salary basis" requirements for FLSA's exemption extends only to an eligible employee's use of FMLA leave.

## **ENFORCEMENT**

It is unlawful for any employer to interfere with, restrain, or deny the exercise of or the attempt to exercise any right provided by the FMLA. It is also unlawful for an employer to discharge or discriminate against any individual for opposing any practice, or because of involvement in any proceeding, related to the FMLA. *See* Fact Sheet 77B: Protections for Individuals under the FMLA. The Wage and Hour Division is responsible for administering and enforcing the FMLA for most employees. Most federal and certain congressional employees are also covered by the law but are subject to the jurisdiction of the U.S. Office of Personnel Management or Congress. If you believe that your rights under the FMLA have been violated, you may file a complaint with the Wage and Hour Division or file a private lawsuit against your employer in court.

## For additional information, visit our Wage and Hour Division Website: <u>U.S. Wage and Hour Division</u> and/or call our toll-free information and helpline, available 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. in your time zone, 1-866-4-USWAGE (1-866-487-9243).

This publication is for general information and is not to be considered in the same light as official statements of position contained in the regulations.

**U.S. Department of Labor** Frances Perkins Building 200 Constitution Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20210 **1-866-4-USWAGE** TTY: 1-866-487-9243

# INDEX

# A

Annual Evaluation	9
Appendices	
Benefits	14–19
Family & Medical Leave Act (FM	LA)23–
26	
Salary Schedules	11–13
Winter Closedown	20–22
Arbitrators	3

## B

Benefits1	4–19
Bereavement Leave	7

# С

Clothing Allowance
--------------------

# D

Dental Insurance	.15
Discipline	6
Dues Check-off	1

# E

Evaluation	9
------------	---

# F

Family & Medical Leave Act (FMLA)7, 23–
26
Flexible Spending Account16

# G

# Η

Health Insurance	14
Holidays	7

# I

Identification Cards	19
Interim Appointments	6

# J

Job Titles	1
Jury Duty	8

# L

Layoff	4
Leaves of Absence with Pay	
Bereavement	7
Holidays	7
Jury Duty	8
Long-Tern Disability	
Personal Leave Days	
Short-Term Disability	
Sick	
Vacation	
Life Insurance	
Optional Life Insurance	16
Term Life	
Long-Term Disability	15
Loss of Seniority	
~	

# $\mathbf{M}$

Management Rights	1
Medical Insurance	14
MPSERS	17

# 0

```
Optional Life Insurance......16
```

# P

9
8
5
6

## R

Recall	. 4
Recognition	. 1
Retirement System (MPSERS)	

# S

Salary Schedule	11–13
Seniority	5
Short-Tern Disability	15
Sick Days	8
Signature Page	10
Social Security	17
Special Conferences	8
Staff Development	18
Stewards	2

# Т

Term Life Insurance	16
Time Limits, Grievance Procedure	2
Transfers	6
Tuition Reimbursement	17
Tuition Waiver	17

U

<b>T</b> T <b>·</b>	Dues	1
1 nion		
Omon		т

# V

Vacancies	6
Vacation	8
Vision Insurance	15

# W

Wages	11–13
Winter Closedown	
2022	
2023	
2024	
Workers' Compensation	